

King Saud University

The Saudi Dental Journal



www.ksu.edu.sa www.sciencedirect.com

REVIEW ARTICLE

Middle mesial canal in mandibular first molar: A narrative review



Raghavendra Penukonda ^a, Harshada Pattar ^b, Phrabhakaran Nambiar ^c, Afaf Al-Haddad ^d,*

Received 19 March 2023; revised 12 May 2023; accepted 14 May 2023 Available online 19 May 2023

KEYWORDS

Canal configuration;
Cone Beam Computed
Tomography (CBCT);
Dental Operating Microscope (DOM);
Mandibular first molar
(M1M);
Middle mesial canal (MMC)

Abstract *Purpose:* This review aimed to assess the incidence, anatomical characteristics, identification, and clinical management using conventional techniques and advanced tools to manage MMCs successfully.

Methods: Medline/PubMed and Scopus databases were searched using "Middle mesial canal," "Middle mesial root canal," OR "Accessory mesial canal" keywords from 1 January 1970 and 1 February 2023. The most pertinent articles were chosen for the review from the retrieved articles. In addition, relevant articles were added by manually searching the list of references.

Results: The incidence of MMC is noticeable in younger people, and the confluent canal is the most common type. The majority of MMCs merged with mesiobuccal (MB) canals rather than mesiolingual (ML) canals. Clinical management could be employed using the standard endodontics protocol, and recent radiography technologies, magnification, rotary, and obturation materials can facilitate the procedures.

Conclusion: The possibility of the incidence of MMC is not unusual. Detection and thorough debridement followed by obturation of the canal could increase the success rate of clinical outcomes.

© 2023 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

E-mail address: afaf_haddad3@yahoo.com (A. Al-Haddad).

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University. Production and hosting by Elsevier.



Production and hosting by Elsevier

^a Department of Endodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, MAHSA University, Bandar Saujana Putra, 42610, Selangor, Malaysia

^b Department of Oral Pathology, Faculty of Dentistry, MAHSA University, Bandar Saujana Putra, 42610, Selangor, Malaysia

^c Head of the Department, Department of Oral Biology, Faculty of Dentistry, MAHSA University, Bandar Saujana Putra, 42610, Selangor, Malaysia

^d Department of Conservative Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, MAHSA University, Bandar Saujana Putra, 42610, Selangor, Malaysia

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Conservative Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, MAHSA University, Bandar Saujana Putra, 42610, Selangor, Malaysia.

Contents

1.	Introduction	469
2.	Methods	469
3.	Results:	470
	3.1. MMCS: Incidence, Prevalence, and distribution	470
	3.2. Location of MMC in relation to MB and ML canals	470
	3.3. Distance between MB and ML orifices	
	3.4. Classification of MMCs	
	3.5. Isthmus and its relation with MMCs	
	3.6. Mean diameter and volume of MMCs	471
	3.7. Curvature of the MMCs	471
	3.8. Association between MMC and the presence of a second distal canal	471
	3.9. Methods to identify MMCs: Technology-Based Methods	471
	3.9.1. Radiographic method	471
	3.9.2. Cone-Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT)	
	3.9.3. Dental operating microscope (DOM)	471
	3.10. Clinical Methods to detect MMCs	471
	3.10.1. Adequate access cavity preparation and Red Line Test	
	3.10.2. Exploration and negotiation of MMCs	472
	3.10.3. Guided troughing technique	472
	3.10.4. Champagne bubble Test	472
	3.10.5. Methylene blue dye Test	472
	3.11. Cleaning and shaping of MMCs	472
	3.12. Obturation of MMCs	473
4.	Conclusion	473
	CRediT authorship contribution statement	473
	Declaration of Competing Interest	473
	Acknowledgment	473
	References	473

1. Introduction

Root canal therapy aims to locate all canal orifices, chemomechanically debriding the root canals to minimize the bacterial load and create the shape and space for the obturation with an inert material three-dimensionally to prevent the chances of reinfections (Vertucci, 2005). Obtaining clean root canals by adequate shaping is essential; however, overly enlarging the root canals with rotary files should be avoided, as this reduces the tooth's fracture resistance. (Gambarini et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2022).

Initial studies by Hess and Zurcher showed that the anatomy of the root canals is erratic and complex. The root canals might consist of multiple foramina, isthmus, fins, apical deltas, intercanal connections, loops, and accessory canals (Karobari et al., 2022). Although the anatomy is indeed complex, a low radiation dose and a wide field-of-view (FOV) of the Cone Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT) allows the operator to obtain the canal anatomy for proper treatment planning, simplifying decisions, reducing time, and aiding in the early detection of potential complications and operational difficulties, thereby enhancing treatment outcomes (Reda et al., 2022).

The M1M is the most common endodontically treated tooth (Reyhani et al., 2007), and usually, M1M has mesial and distal roots. Typically, the mesial root displayed two

canals, the mesiobuccal (MB) and the mesiolingual (ML) canals, each of which terminates in a separate foramen (90 %). However, 10 % of cases merge near the foramen. The distal root consists of only one large canal (65 %) with an oval or kidney shape or two canals (35 %) (Ballullaya et al., 2013; Calberson et al., 2007).

M1M exhibits a range of anatomical variations, which include: MMC, Middle distal canal (MDC), Isthmus, Radix Paramolaris, Radix Entomolaris, and Taurodontism. The clinician should comprehensively understand these possible anatomic variations before attempting endodontic therapy to treat them successfully (Srivastava et al., 2018).

The present review emphasizes the incidence, anatomical characteristics, identification, and clinical management using conventional techniques and advanced tools to manage MMCs pertaining to M1M alone successfully.

2. Methods

PubMed/ Medline and Scopus databases were searched using the keywords "Middle mesial canal," "Middle mesial root canal," OR "Accessory mesial canal." Inclusion in the analysis was restricted to the articles published between 1 January 1970 and 1 February 2023 in English-language. Additional studies were included by manually searching the references of the most R. Penukonda et al.

pertinent published original research, systematic reviews, review articles, case series, and reports.

3. Results:

3.1. MMCS: Incidence, Prevalence, and distribution

The prevalence of the MMCs varies according to ethnicity and ranges from 0.26 to 45.8 % (Pertek Hatipoğlu et al., 2023; Bansal et al., 2018). The incidence of MMC was initially stated in 1974 (Barker et al., 1974; Vertucci & Williams, 1974). Furthermore, a detailed study identifying the incidence and the clinical detection of MMC was reported (Pomeranz et al., 1981).

The accessory canals are formed due to the apposition of the secondary dentin that occurs throughout tooth development resulting in a vertical partition in the root (Srivastava et al., 2018). MMC is ubiquitous among younger to middle-aged patients and significantly more prevalent among younger patients. (Azim et al., 2015, Nosrat et al., 2015). In M1M, the incidence of MMCs on the left and right sides or between genders was insignificant. Moreover, MMCs exhibited a bilateral incidence (Pertek Hatipoğlu et al., 2023). The likelihood of identifying these small accessory canals decreases with age because continued secondary dentin formation causes obliteration, making it exceedingly difficult to identify and locate (Solomonov et al., 2020).

3.2. Location of MMC in relation to MB and ML canals

The MMC orifice may be located closer to ML or MB canal or equidistant from MB and ML canals. The majority of the previous studies and case reports showed that the orifice of the MMC is present closer to the ML canal than to the MB canal, followed by the incidence of the orifice between the two main canals, while the presence of the orifice near that of the MB canal is quite unusual (Karapinar-Kazandag et al., 2010; Nosrat et al., 2015; Pomeranz et al., 1981; Sherwani et al., 2016).

Karapinar-kazandag et al. (2010) found that about 45 % of the accessory mesial canals are close to the ML canal, whereas 30 % are at the center between MB and ML canals. Approximately 25 % are closer to the MB canal. Sherwani et al. (2016) observed that in about 67 % of the North Indian population, the orifices of the MMCs were present at the center of MB and ML canals. About 20.5 % of cases showed the orifice close to the ML canal, and 12.3 % had the orifices close to the MB canal. Deepalakshmi et al. (2012) reported MMC orifice is present at equidistant from the two main canals.

3.3. Distance between MB and ML orifices

Karapinar- Kazandag et al. (2010) reported that if the accessory mesial canal is closer to MB or ML, the distance between them is about 3.21 mm. Akbarzadeh et al. (2017) concluded that the average distance between MB and ML canal is about 3.1 mm in the roots with MMC, whereas the tooth without MMC showed an inter-orifice mean distance of about 3.7 mm. Weinberg et al. (2020) reported an inter-orifice distance of about 3.6 mm in the roots with MMC and 3.8 mm without MMC.

The incidence of the MMC was inversely associated with the MB-ML orifice distance; mainly, for every rise in 1 mm of inter-orifice distance, the chances of identification of MMC dropped by a factor of 2 times (Karapinar-Kazandag et al., 2010; Akbarzadeh et al., 2017; Weinberg et al., 2020).

3.4. Classification of MMCs

The MMCs were classified by Pomeranz et al. (1981) into (i) Fin type: an isthmus exists between the MMC and an MB or ML canal during any stage of course from the orifice to the apex, or an instrument can pass between MMC and MB or ML canal easily, as the orifices will merge after the instrumentation., (ii) Confluent type: Emerges as a separate orifice and joins with either MB or ML canal, through the transverse anastomosis, intercanal connections or isthmus during its course to the apical foramen and (iii) Independent type: Three separate canals from the pulp chamber to the apex.

Azim et al. (2015) reported a high incidence of confluent type (78.5 %) of MMC, followed by fin-type (12 %) and independent type (9.5 %). Nosrat et al. (2015) reported that about 46.7 % of the MMC are confluent type, 33.3 % are fin-type, and 20 % of the canals are independent. Karapinar- Kazandag et al. (2010) demonstrated that all MMCs were confluent, with no canal terminating as fin or independent type. Sherwani et al. (2016) reported a high incidence of confluent (75.3 %) anatomy, followed by fin-type (21.9 % and independent (2.7 %) type is uncommon.

The Confluent type is most common where the MMC joined either of the two main root canals (MB or ML). About 42 % of the MMC merged with the MB canal, followed by the ML canal (29 %) (Karapinar-Kazandag et al., 2010). According to Fabra-Campos, (1989), about 1.7 % of MMC merged with the MB canal, mainly in the apical thirds of the root canal. 1.6 % merged with ML canals. Versiani et al. (2016) demonstrated that about 20.8 % of the MMC joined the MB canal, and 16.7 % joined to ML canal.

3.5. Isthmus and its relation with MMCs

An isthmus is a narrow ribbon-like extension between the two main canals, which consists of pulp or pulpal-derived tissue (Cambruzzi & Marshall, 1983). A continuous association between the two main root canals is called the complete isthmus, while a partial isthmus is an incomplete connection between the main root canals (Weller et al., 1995). The isthmus was classified by Hsu and Kim (1997) into five different types as follows:

Type I: No communication between two or more canals.

Type II: Complete isthmus between two canals.

Type III: Three canals joined by a complete connection between them.

Type IV: Canals are found in the isthmus area. It consists of two elongated canals that communicate in the center.

Type V: The canal is single, elongated, and very broad.

The incidence of the complete or incomplete isthmus in the mesial root of the M1M ranges from 36 % to 83 %. Studies showed that the isthmus is frequently detected at 3–5 mm from the root apex. The presence of an incomplete isthmus is

commonly encountered compared to a complete isthmus. However, the tooth may vary due to age, sex, and geographic distribution (Haghanifar et al., 2017; Hsu & Kim,1997; Teixeira et al., 2003).

MMC is most frequently detected in the tooth with an isthmus. An isthmus may augment the incidence of MMC. MMCs were identified nearly five times more frequently in M1M with an isthmus between two MB and ML canals (Akbarzadeh et al., 2017; Nosrat et al., 2015).

3.6. Mean diameter and volume of MMCs

The mean diameter of the major and minor constriction and the volume of the MMC is always smaller than the two main root canals (MB and ML). The minor diameter of MMCs with three independent canals was measured and found to be 0.16 mm and 0.40 mm for major diameters in Brazilian and Turkish populations. The volume of the MMC in the case of teeth with three independent canals was found to be 0.20 ± 0.10 . The overall observations conclude that the mean diameter and volume of MMCs are 2–3 times lesser than the main canals (Versiani et al., 2016).

3.7. Curvature of the MMCs

The curvature of the MMC is considered age-dependent. The MMC exhibited moderate to severe curvature, whereas most MMCs showed a curvature starting from the middle thirds of the root canals. The curvature was very prominent towards the mesiodistal and buccolingual direction. However, the mesiodistal curvature of root canals decreased with age due to calcification (Yang et al., 2020).

3.8. Association between MMC and the presence of a second distal canal

It was reported that MMC is more common in M1M, having two distal canals (45.4 %) than those with one distal canal (Sherwani et al., 2016). However, Nosrat et al. (2015) found no correlation between MMC and the occurrence of the second distal canal.

3.9. Methods to identify MMCs: Technology-Based Methods

3.9.1. Radiographic method

A high-quality preoperative periapical conventional or digital radiograph is mandatory before the endodontic procedure. The paralleling cone technique is preferred for endodontic radiographs because it produces minimal distortion and nearly no overlap with bony structures. At least two preoperative radiographs with varying horizontal angulations must be performed, determining the roots' buccolingual width which suggests the existence of accessory canals (Setzer & Lee, 2021).

The occurrence of extra roots and canals is more probable: i) If the root tip is more bulbous, ii) If the canal abruptly disappears (Breakpoint), iii) If the placement of the lesion is eccentric, iv) If the Periodontal ligament is enlarged in the middle of the root, v) If the file is not in the centre of the root (Ahmed, 2015).

3.9.2. Cone-Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT)

Cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) is an advanced imaging modality for examining hard tissues in the dental and maxillofacial regions. CBCT produces a high-quality image and interprets it in three-dimensional views, making it more useful in endodontics. CBCT uses a cone or pyramidal-shaped beam of radiation to acquire a volume in a single partial (>180) or full 360-degree rotation (Oser et al., 2017).

The American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology and the American Association of Endodontists published a joint position statement in 2015 that CBCT imaging must not be utilized routinely for endodontic diagnosis or screening purposes, especially in the lack of clinical signs and symptoms. However, the case selection criteria for using CBCT imaging for endodontic applications could be more precise and specific (Fayad et al., 2015). CBCT scanned images guide the clinician to the correct location, angle, and depth to access the patent portion of the canals found and correctly treated.

A recent report stated that seven distinct MMCs were detected clinically and on CBCT images with an incidence rate of 13.725 %. Many teeth had a broad isthmus between the MB and ML canal orifices on the CBCT images (Weinberg et al., 2020). Out of 122 scans examined, 22.22 % had MMC; 15.56 % were female, and 6.66 % were male. Interestingly, the prevalence of the MMC was 11.47 % in M1Ms. (Arashlow et al., 2017).

In some cases, MMCs were located at the furcation area but merged with the MB or ML canal toward the apex in two-thirds of these cases (Keles & Keskin, 2018).

CBCT detectors are reported to improve and increase image quality, contrast, and spatial resolution, reducing noise and image artifacts. Pertek Hatipoğlu et al. (2023) suggested using a small FOV ranging from 6x8 to 15x15 cm and a voxel size ranging from 100 to 200 µm to obtain higher-quality images that depict the presence of MMCs more accurately. The limited FOV results in a higher spatial resolution and a lower radiation dose with shorter volumes to be interpreted.

3.9.3. Dental operating microscope (DOM)

The dental operating microscope (DOM) is used in endodontics to assist with various treatment procedures (Low et al., 2018). A 2.5–10 X magnification is routinely preferred to perform most steps during the root canal treatment. In contrast, complex procedures like instrument retrieval, bypassing a ledge, apical surgery, etc., might require a higher magnification.

The DOM has substantially increased the probability of locating the MMC. It has been demonstrated that a preoperative CBCT scan to obtain a better idea about the internal anatomy, followed by adequate de-roofing of the pulp chamber by selectively troughing under a microscope, increases the likelihood of finding these additional canals while preserving the tooth structure (Scarfe et al., 2009).

3.10. Clinical Methods to detect MMCs

3.10.1. Adequate access cavity preparation and Red Line Test The access cavity should be prepared by following all the laws of Krasner and Rankow. The access cavity preparation should allow a better vision of the pulpal floor and improved diagnostic and straight-line access to the orifices (Adams & Tomson, 2014). The standard errors while preparing the access cavities,

R. Penukonda et al.

such as; incomplete removal of caries from the pulp chamber, incomplete deroofing of the pulp chamber, over preparation, or perforations, reduce the chances of locating accessory and main canals. In cases where the pulp is vital, bleeding points can be observed on the pulp chamber floor, suggesting root canal orifices. In a few cases, blood regularly moves into an isthmus area. It absorbs into orifices, fins, and isthmuses, which serve as a roadmap to aid in recognizing the underlying anatomy referred to as the Red Line Test (Gandhi et al., 2012).

3.10.2. Exploration and negotiation of MMCs

The orifices of MMC can be located by carefully exploring the pulp chamber floor using a sharp endodontic explorer (DG 16), a small stiff stainless steel K-file, or Micro-openers (Patel & Rhodes, 2007). After a proper access opening, a sharp endodontic explorer should be passed through the groove between the MB and ML canals. Careful probing of this area may encounter a "catch" or a "stick" feeling, which confirms the presence of an accessory canal (Subbiya et al., 2013).

A small number of rigid stainless steel K-files, preferably a 6, 8, or 10 no file, can also be used to explore and negotiate these narrow canals carefully. The canal can be negotiated using a slow-watch winding motion until it reaches the apex by placing an adequate volume of sodium hypochlorite within the pulp chamber (Van der Vyver et al., 2020).

The micro-openers are flexible ISO-sized hand instruments with 7 mm K-type flutes mounted to a handle. The unrealistic taper improves the instrument's tensile strength and is specially designed to use with magnification (Gandhi et al., 2012; Siddiqui & Mohamed, 2016).

3.10.3. Guided troughing technique

Dentinal protuberance within the mesial canals makes locating and negotiating MMC challenging. The guided troughing technique could increase the chances of finding MMC. A smallheaded Munce discovery bur (#2) or ultrasonic tips are most commonly used for troughing (Karapinar-Kazandag et al., 2010; Prade et al., 2019).

Most MMC orifices are located close to the ML canal, so the clinician should search by troughing from the ML canal and slowly progressing within the groove close to the MB canal (Karapinar-Kazandag et al., 2010). The troughing should be done in an apical direction at the expense of the mesial-axial wall away from the furcation area (danger zone) to avoid the chances of strip perforation, as the thickness of the dentin is less than 1 mm in this area (Azim et al., 2015; De-Deus et al., 2019).

The mean depth of the dentin should be removed is about 0.7–2 mm (Azim et al., 2015; Karapinar-Kazandag et al., 2010; Prade et al., 2019). According to Keles and Keskin (2017), 77.41 % of MMC were discovered without troughing since most of the orifices of these accessory canals are located at the cementoenamel junction. In contrast, few cases required cautious troughing to detect root canal orifices.

While troughing with ultrasonic tips, the pulp chamber floor should be frequently inspected for grooves packed with dentin chips. This helps in the identification of hidden orifices (White Line Test). Troughing should be carried out under magnification to prevent the unnecessary removal of the tooth structure and also helps identify the root canal orifices (Gopal et al., 2014).

3.10.4. Champagne bubble Test

The access cavity should be prepared adequately, and later the pulp chamber should be filled with 3–5.25 % sodium hypochlorite to check for accessory canals after locating the major canals. If the accessory canals are present, the irrigant will react with pulpal tissue within the orifice of the tooth and release a stream of bubbles due to the oxygenation of the pulp tissue. The operator should observe the pulp chamber under a DOM to identify and locate the origin of the bubbles. The area from where the bubbles originate indicates the presence of a canal orifice (McCabe & Dummer, 2012; Nair et al., 2019).

3.10.5. Methylene blue dye Test

The 1 % methylene blue is the most frequently used dye to locate the canal orifice. It can be applied into the pulp chambers and then rinsed thoroughly with water, dried, and visualized. The dye will be absorbed into the orifices, which helps identify the root canal orifices and is referred to as a Dye test (Mohammadi et al., 2016).

3.11. Cleaning and shaping of MMCs

Most MMCs are narrow, tortuous, curved, or joined to one of the primary root canals; therefore, these canals must be cleaned and shaped meticulously to avoid procedural errors (de Mattos et al., 2022). A proper glide path preparation, the right selection of rotary files, and a proper technique would efficiently clean and shape without procedural errors (Ajina et al., 2022; Chaniotis & Ordinola-Zapata, 2022; Patil et al., 2017).

K-files with a high buckling resistance or C + files can negotiate the canals efficiently without bending since they are rigid and easily progress through a narrow, tortuous canal (Martins et al., 2022). The files should always be used in the presence of sodium hypochlorite, and a watch-winding technique should facilitate the file's movement within the root canal system (Yared, 2015). The canals should be enlarged adequately to a # 10 K-file before using a rotary file for the glide path preparation (Arias & Peters, 2022; Neelakantan et al., 2022). Compared to K-files, rotary glide path files can prepare canals more efficiently (Htun et al., 2020). If the clinician prefers to prepare a glide path using K-files, using intermediate files, such as # 12 and 17, is more beneficial for achieving a smoother transition between the files and aids in easier penetration through canal constrictions (Plotino et al., 2020).

It is always preferable to utilize constant taper rotary files that have been heat-treated while instrumenting the MMCs (Kılıç et al., 2021). The apical enlargement should be done considering the configuration of the MMCs. Since the diameter of the apical constriction in these canals is minor. Preparing these canals to smaller sizes with less taper, preferably 4 %, is always better. The apical enlargement is decided by using the technique of apical gauging (Weller et al., 1995; Zhou et al., 2022).

The crown-down instrumentation technique is preferred for cleaning and shaping these accessory canals, and care must be taken during instrumentation (Puleio et al., 2022). A careful brushing motion is employed away from the furcation area and toward the mesial side of the root. MMCs generally exhibit moderate to severe three-dimensional curvature, with the

curvature beginning at any point within the canal. Understanding the shape and curvature of the root canal in advance might enhance the success rate of root canal therapy (Yang et al., 2020).

For irrigation, syringe irrigation can effectively clean the main root canals but cannot clean the root canal abbreviations and anatomic irregularities that are common in the case of MMC. Supplementary irrigation techniques such as sonic, passive ultrasonic, and negative apical pressure should be used to obtain clean canals. These techniques resulted in better debris removal than conventional techniques (de Mattos et al., 2022; Kumar et al., 2023). Recent developments in equipment based on the concept of Photoactivated disinfection, photon-induced photoacoustic streaming, gentle wave system, etc., are significant milestones in the irrigation of root canals. These irrigating systems provide adequate tissue dissolving and debris removal from the anastomoses and significantly reduce the bacterial load within the root canal system (Kishen et al., 2016; Boutsioukis & Arias-Moliz, 2022).

3.12. Obturation of MMCs

Root canal therapy aims to adequately seal the root canal system and prevent reinfection of the root canal (Li et al., 2014). Different obturation techniques can be employed to obturate the MMCs. The obturation technique depends on operator skills, root canal configuration, and materials and equipment availability. The MMCs were obturated employing cold lateral compaction of gutta-percha cones in the apical third, subsequently vertically compacted of thermoplasticized gutta-percha (Nosrat et al., 2015; Sivaramakrishnan et al., 2020).

The MMC could be separated or confluent with main mesial canals, and obturation was done successfully using laterally condensed gutta-percha cones in combination with a different sealer (Baugh & Wallace, 2004; La et al., 2010). In another case report, obturation was performed utilizing a warm vertical compacted gutta-percha and AH Plus sealer (Jabali, 2018).

4. Conclusion

Due to the rapid advancement of technologies like CBCT and DOM, the likelihood of identifying and locating MMCs in M1M has increased. Detection of these canals, followed by careful and proper cleaning and shaping to obturation, improves the outcome of root canal treatment. Young individuals with a complete isthmus connecting the two major canals are likelier to have MMCs. Most often observed is the confluent canal, in which the MMC merges with the MB canal. The MMC is located between the MB and ML canals, while the distance between the MMC and the main canal can vary. These MMCs are narrow, with a mean diameter being minor. The canals displayed significant curvature. Understanding the above characteristics is essential for any practitioner treating a tooth with MMCs.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Raghavendra Penukonda: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. **Harshada Pattar:**

Data curation, Writing – original draft. **Phrabhakaran Nambiar:** Supervision. **Afaf Al-Haddad:** Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgment

None.

References

- Adams, N., Tomson, P.L., 2014. Access cavity preparation. British. Dent. J. 216, 333–339.
- Ahmed, H.M.A., 2015. Guidelines to enhance the interpretation of two-dimensional periapical radiographic images in endodontics. Eur. J Gen Den. 4, 106–112.
- Ajina, M., Billis, G., Chong, B.S., 2022. The effect of glide path preparation on root canal shaping procedures and outcomes. Eur Endod J. 7, 92–105.
- Akbarzadeh, N., Aminoshariae, A., Khalighinejad, N., Palomo, J.M., Syed, A., Kulild, J.C., Ghazal Sadeghi, G., Mickel, A., 2017. The association between the anatomic landmarks of the pulp chamber floor and the prevalence of middle mesial canals in mandibular first molars: an in vivo analysis. J. Endod. 43, 1797–1801.
- Arashlow, M.T., Nair, U., Jalali, P., Barghan, S., Nair, M., 2017.
 Frequency and morphology of middle mesial canals in permanent mandibular molars: a CBCT study. Oral. Surg. Oral. Med. Oral. Pathol. Oral .Radiol. 124, E24–E25.
- Arias, A., Peters, O.A., 2022. Present status and future directions: canal shaping. Int. Endod. J. 55 (Suppl 3), 637–655.
- Azim, A.A., Deutsch, A.S., Solomon, C.S., 2015. Prevalence of middle mesial canals in mandibular molars after guided troughing under high magnification: an in vivo investigation. J. Endod. 41, 164–168.
- Ballullaya, S.V., Vemuri, S., Kumar, P.R., 2013. Variable permanent mandibular first molar: review of literature. J. Conserv. Dent. 16, 99–110.
- Bansal, R., Hegde, S., Astekar, M., 2018. Morphology and prevalence of middle canals in the mandibular molars: a systematic review. J. Oral. Maxillofac. Pathol. 22, 216–226.
- Barker, B.C., Parsons, K.C., Mills, P.R., 1974. Williams GL. anatomy of root canals. III. Permanent mandibular molars. Aust Dent J. 19, 408–413.
- Baugh, D., Wallace, J., 2004. Middle mesial canal of the mandibular first molar: a case report and literature review. J. Endod. 30, 185–186
- Boutsioukis, C., Arias-Moliz, M.T., 2022. Present status and future directions irrigants and irrigation methods. Int. Endod. J. 55 (Suppl 3), 588–612.
- Calberson, F.L., De Moor, R.J., Deroose, C.A., 2007. The radix entomolaris and paramolaris: clinical approach in endodontics. J. Endod. 33, 58–63.
- Cambruzzi, J.V., Marshall, F.J., 1983. Molar endodontic surgery. J. Can. Dent. Assoc. 49, 61–65.
- Chaniotis, A., Ordinola-Zapata, R., 2022. Present status and future directions: management of curved and calcified root canals. Int. Endod. J. 55 (Suppl 3), 656–684.
- de Mattos de Araujo, BM., Cruz, AT., Piasecki, L., Webber, M., Carneiro, E., Westphalen, VP., da Silva Neto, UX., 2022. Micro-CT evaluation of four final irrigation protocols on hard-tissue debris removal from mesial roots of mandibular molars containing isthmus. Clin. Oral Invest. 61, 1–8.

R. Penukonda et al.

- De-Deus, G., Rodrigues, E.A., Belladonna, F.G., Simões-Carvalho, M., Cavalcante, D.M., Oliveira, D.S., Souza, E.M., Giorgi, K.A., Versiani, M.A., Lopes, R.T., Silva, E.J., 2019. Anatomical danger zone reconsidered: a micro-CT study on dentine thickness in mandibular molars. Int. Endod. J. 52, 1501–1507.
- Deepalakshmi, M., Karumaran, C.S., Miglani, R., Indira, R., 2012. Independent and confluent middle mesial root canals in mandibular first molars: a report of four cases. Case Rep Dent., 1–6
- Fabra-Campos, H., 1989. Three canals in the mesial root of mandibular first permanent molars: a clinical study. Int. Endod. J. 22, 39–43.
- Fayad, M.I., Nair, M., Levin, M.D., Benavides, E., Rubinstein, R.A., Barghan, S., Hirschberg, C.S., Ruprecht, A., 2015. AAE and AAOMR joint position statement: use of cone beam computed tomography in endodontics 2015 update. Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol. Oral Radiol. 120, 508–512.
- Gambarini, G., Miccoli, G., D'Angelo, M., Seracchiani, M., Obino, F. V., Reda, R., Testarelli, 2020. The relevance of operative torque and torsional resistance of nickel-titanium rotary instruments: a preliminary clinical investigation. Saudi Endod. J. 10, 260–264.
- Gandhi, B., Majety, K.K., Gowdra, R.H., 2012. Root canal treatment of bilateral three-rooted maxillary first premolars. J. Orofac. Sci. 4, 56–59.
- Gopal, S., John, G., Pavan Kumar, K., Latha, S., Latha, S., Kallepalli, S., 2014. Endodontic treatment of bilateral maxillary first premolars with three roots using CBCT: a case report. Case Rep Dent. 2014 (505676), 1–4.
- Haghanifar, S., Moudi, E., Madani, Z., Farahbod, F., Bijani, A., 2017.
 Evaluation of the prevalence of complete isthmii in permanent teeth using cone-beam computed tomography. Iran Endod. J.12, 426–431.
- Hsu, Y.Y., Kim, S., 1997. The resected root surface. the issue of canal isthmuses. Dent. Clin. N. Am. 41, 529–540.
- Htun, P.H., Ebihara, A., Maki, K., Kimura, S., Nishijo, M., Tokita, D., Okiji, T., 2020. Comparison of torque, force generation and canal shaping ability between manual and nickel-titanium glide path instruments in rotary and optimum glide path motion. Odontology 108, 188–193.
- Jabali, A.H., 2018. Middle mesial and middle distal canals in mandibular first molar. J. Contemp. Dent. Pract. 19, 233–236.
- Karapinar-Kazandag, M., Basrani, B.R., Friedman, S., 2010. The operating microscope enhances detection and negotiation of accessory mesial canals in mandibular molars. J. Endod. 36, 1289–1294.
- Karobari, M.I., Arshad, S., Noorani, T.Y., Ahmed, N., Basheer, S.N., Peeran, S.W., Marya, A., Marya, C.M., Messina, P., Scardina, G. A., 2022. Root and root canal configuration characterization using microcomputed tomography: a systematic review. J. Clin. Med. 11, 2287.
- Keles, A., Keskin, C., 2017. Detectability of middle mesial root canal orifices by troughing technique in mandibular molars: a microcomputed tomographic study. J. Endod. 43, 1329–1331.
- Keles, A., Keskin, C., 2018. Deviations of mesial root canals of mandibular first molar teeth at the apical third: a micro-computed tomographic study. J. Endod. 44, 1030–1032.
- Kılıç, Y., Karataşlıoğlu, E., Kaval, M.E., 2021. The effect of root canal preparation size and taper of middle mesial canals on fracture resistance of the mandibular molar teeth: an in vitro study. J. Endod. 47, 1467–1471.
- Kishen, A., Peters, O.A., Zehnder, M., Diogenes, A.R., Nair, M.K., 2016. Advances in endodontics: potential applications in clinical practice. J. Conserv. Dent. 19, 199–206.
- Kumar, K., Teoh, Y.Y., Walsh, L.J., 2023. Root canal cleaning in roots with complex canals using agitated irrigation fluids. Aust. Endod. J. 49 (1), 56–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/aej.12646.
- La, S.H., Jung, D.H., Kim, E.C., Min, K.S., 2010. Identification of independent middle mesial canal in mandibular first molar using cone-beam computed tomography imaging. J. Endod. 36, 542–545.

- Li, G.H., Niu, L.N., Zhang, W., Olsen, M., De-Deus, G., Eid, A.A., Chen, J.H., Pashley, D.H., Tay, F.R., 2014. Ability of new obturation materials to improve the seal of the root canal system: a review. Acta. Biomater. 10, 1050–1063.
- Lin, G.S.S., Singbal, K.P., Noorani, T.Y., Penukonda, R., 2022. Vertical root fracture resistance and dentinal crack formation of root canal-treated teeth instrumented with different nickel-titanium rotary systems; an in-vitro study. Odontology 110, 106-112.
- Low, J.F., Dom, T.N.M., Baharin, S.A., 2018. Magnification in endodontics: a review of its application and acceptance among dental practitioners. Eur. J. Dent. 12, 610–616.
- Martins, J.N.R., Martins, R.F., Braz Fernandes, F.M., Silva, E., 2022. What meaningful information are the instruments mechanical testing giving Us? A Comprehensive Rev. J Endod. 48, 985–1004.
- McCabe, P., Dummer, P.M.H., 2012. Pulp canal obliteration: an endodontic diagnosis and treatment challenge. Int. Endod. J. 45, 177–197.
- Mohammadi, Z., Asgary, S., Shalavi, S.P.VA., 2016. A clinical update on the different methods to decrease the occurrence of missed root canals. Iran Endod. J. 11, 208–213.
- Nair, R., Khasnis, S., Patil, J.D., 2019. Permanent maxillary first molar with three mesiobuccal canals. Indian J. Dent. Res. 30, 975– 977.
- Neelakantan, P., Vishwanath, V., Taschieri, S., Corbella, S., 2022.Present status and future directions: minimally invasive root canal preparation and periradicular surgery. Int. Endod. J. 55, 845–871.
- Nosrat, A., Deschenes, R.J., Tordik, P.A., Hicks, M.L., Fouad, A.F., 2015. Middle mesial canals in mandibular molars: incidence and related factors. J. Endod. 41, 28–32.
- Oser, D.G., Henson, B.R., Shiang, E.Y., Finkelman, M.D., Amato, R. B., 2017. Incidental findings in small field of view cone-beam computed tomography scans. J. Endod. 43, 901–904.
- Patel, S., Rhodes, J., 2007. A practical guide to endodontic access cavity preparation in molar teeth. British Dent. J. 203, 133-140.
- Patil, T.N., Saraf, P.A., Penukonda, R., VANAkI, S.S., Kamatagi, L., 2017. A survey on nickel-titanium rotary instruments and their usage techniques by endodontists in India. J. Clin. Diag. Res. 11, 7000.
- Pertek Hatipoğlu, F., Mağat, G., Hatipoğlu, Ö., Taha, N., Alfirjani, S., Abidin, I.Z., Lehmann, A.P., Alkhawas, M.A.M., Buchanan, G.D., Kopbayeva, M., Surendar, S., Javed, M.Q., Madfa, A.A., Donnermeyer, D., Krmek, S.J., Bhatti, U.A., Palma, P.J., Brochado Martins, J.F., 2023. Assessment of the prevalence of middle mesial canal in mandibular first molar: a multinational cross-sectional study with meta-analysis. J. Endod. 49 (5), 549–558.
- Plotino, G., Nagendrababu, V., Bukiet, F., Grande, N.M., Veettil, S. K., De-Deus, G., Ahmed, H.M.A., 2020. Influence of negotiation, glide path, and preflaring procedures on root canal shaping-terminology, basic concepts, and a systematic review. J. Endod. 46, 707–729.
- Pomeranz, H.H., Eidelman, D.L., Goldberg, M.G., 1981. Treatment considerations of the middle mesial canal of mandibular first and second molars. J. Endod. 7, 565–568.
- Prade, A.C., Mostardeiro, R.D.T., Tibúrcio-Machado, C.D.S., Morgental, R.D., Bier, C.A.S., 2019. Detectability of middle mesial canal in mandibular molar after troughing using ultrasonics and magnification: an ex vivo study. Braz. Dent. J. 30, 227–231.
- Puleio, F., Lo Giudice, G., Militi, A., Bellezza, U., Lo, G.R., 2022. Does low-taper root canal shaping decrease the risk of root fracture? A Systematic Rev. Dent J. 10, 94.
- Reda, R., Zanza, A., Bhandi, S., Biase, A., Testarelli, L., Miccoli, G., 2022. Surgical-anatomical evaluation of mandibular premolars by CBCT among the Italian population. Dent. Med. Probl. 59, 209– 216
- Reyhani MF, Rahimi S, Shahi S.,2007. Root canal therapy of a mandibular first molar with five root canals: A case report. Iran Endod J.2,110-112.

- Scarfe, W.C., Levin, M.D., Gane, D., Farman, A.G., 2009. Use of cone beam computed tomography in endodontics. Int. J. Dent., 1–20
- Setzer, F.C., Lee, S.M., 2021. Radiology in endodontics. Dent. Clin. N. Am. 65, 475–486.
- Sherwani, O.A.K., Kumar, A., Tewari, R.K., Mishra, S.K., Andrabi, S.M.U.N., Alam, S., 2016. Frequency of middle mesial canals in mandibular first molars in North Indian population-an in vivo study. Saudi Endod. J. 6, 66–70.
- Siddiqui SH, Mohamed AN. Calcific metamorphosis: a review.,2016. Int J Health Sci. 10, 437-442.
- Sivaramakrishnan, G., Gutmann, J.L., Alsobaiei, M., Sridharan, K., 2020. Middle mesial canals in mandibular molars: incidence, prevalence, anatomical characterisation and clinical implications. Endo EPT.14, 25–35.
- Solomonov, M., Kim, H.C., Hadad, A., Levy, D.H., Itzhak, J.B., Levinson, O., Azizi, H., 2020. Age-dependent root canal instrumentation techniques: a comprehensive narrative review. Rest Dent. Endod. 45, 1–12.
- Srivastava, S., Alrogaibah, N.A., Aljarbou, G., 2018. Cone-beam computed tomographic analysis of middle mesial canals and isthmus in mesial roots of mandibular first molars-prevalence and related factors. J. Conserv. Dent. 21, 526–1230.
- Subbiya, A., Kumar, K.S., Vivekanandhan, P., Prakash, V., 2013. Management of mandibular first molar with four canals in mesial root. J. Conserv. Dent. 16, 471–473.
- Teixeira, F.B., Sano, C.L., Gomes, B.P., Zaia, A.A., Ferraz, C.C., Souza-Filho, F.J., 2003. A preliminary in vitro study of the incidence and position of the root canal isthmus in maxillary and mandibular first molars. Int. Endod. J. 36, 276–280.

- Van der Vyver, P.J., Vorster, M., Jonker, C.H., Potgieter, N., 2020. Calcific metamorphosis-a review of literature and clinical management. S. Afr. Dent. J. 75, 316–322.
- Versiani, M.A., Ordinola-Zapata, R., Keleş, A., Alcin, H., Bramante, C.M., Sousa-Net Md, P.JD., 2016. Middle mesial canals in mandibular first molars: a micro-CT study in different populations. Arch. Oral Biol. 61, 130–137.
- Vertucci, F.J., Williams, R.G., 1974. Furcation canals in the human mandibular first molar. Oral. Surg. Oral Med. Oral. Pathol. Oral. Radiol. 38, 308–314.
- Vertucci FJ., 2005. Root canal morphology and its relationship to endodontic procedures. Endod T.10,3-29.
- Weinberg, E.M., Pereda, A.E., Khurana, S., Lotlikar, P.P., Falcon, C., Hirschberg, C., 2020. Incidence of middle mesial canals based on distance between mesial canal orifices in mandibular molars: a clinical and cone-beam computed tomographic analysis. J. Endod. 46, 40–43.
- Weller, R.N., Niemczyk, S.P., Kim, S., 1995. Incidence and position of the canal isthmus. Part 1. mesiobuccal root of the maxillary first molar. J. Endod. 21, 380–383.
- Yang, Y., Wu, B., Zeng, J., Chen, M., 2020. Classification and morphology of middle mesial canals of mandibular first molars in a southern Chinese subpopulation: a cone-beam computed tomographic study. BMC Oral Health 358, 1–10.
- Yared, G., 2015. Canal preparation with nickel-titanium or stainless steel instruments without the risk of instrument fracture: preliminary observations. Rest Dent. Endod. 40, 85–90.
- Zhou, Y., Zhang, D., Guan, X., Pan, Q., Deng, S., Yu, M., 2022. Application of WeChat-based flipped classroom on root canal filling teaching in a preclinical endodontic course. BMC Med Edu. 22, 138.